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STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 
 

MARY R. SETZER, 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

RESIDENTIAL ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION, 

 

     Respondent. 

                                                                  / 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 20-3566 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

On November 2, 2020, Administrative Law Judge Yolonda Y. Green of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings (“Division”), conducted a hearing, 

pursuant to section 120.57(1), Florida Statutes (2020), by Zoom conference. 

 

APPEARANCES 

For Petitioner:  Mary R. Setzer, pro se 

                    813 Chickamauga Avenue 

                             Knoxville, Tennessee  37917  

 

For Respondent:  Phillip Harris, Esquire 

  Constangy, Brooks, Smith & Prophete, LLP 

  Suite 3350 

  100 North Tampa Street 

  Tampa, Florida  33602-5832  

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

Whether Respondent, Residential Acceptance Corporation, subjected 

Petitioner, Mary R. Setzer, to unlawful employment practices on the basis of 

her sex or marital status, in violation of section 760.10, Florida Statutes. 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On August 28, 2019, Petitioner, Mary R. Setzer (“Ms. Setzer” or 

“Petitioner”), filed a complaint of discrimination (“Complaint”) with the 

Florida Commission on Human Relations (“FCHR”) alleging that Residential 

Acceptance Corporation (“RAC” or “Respondent”) unlawfully discriminated 

against her on the basis of her sex and marital status. On July 22, 2020, 

FCHR issued a Notice of Determination to Ms. Setzer notifying her that 

FCHR found “no reasonable cause” to demonstrate that unlawful 

discrimination occurred. Dissatisfied with FCHR’s finding, Ms. Setzer filed a 

Petition for Relief seeking an administrative hearing. FCHR referred the 

Petition to the Division on August 11, 2020, and the undersigned was 

assigned to conduct the final hearing in this case. 

 

This matter was scheduled for a final hearing on November 2, 2020. The 

hearing proceeded as scheduled. Petitioner testified on her own behalf and 

offered no other witnesses. Petitioner’s Exhibits A through E were admitted 

into evidence over objection.1 Respondent presented the testimony of April 

Burkett, Chief Financial Officer for RAC. Respondent’s Exhibits 1 through 11 

were admitted into evidence. 

 

The two-volume Transcript was filed on December 7, 2020. Thus, the 

deadline for filing proposed recommended orders (“PROs”) was December 17, 

2020. On December 17, 2020, Respondent filed a Motion for Enlargement of 

Time. The undersigned granted the motion and extended the date to submit 

PROs to December 28, 2020. Both parties filed post hearing submittals, 

which have been considered in preparation of this Recommended Order. 

                                                           
1 Exhibit E contained several LinkedIn notifications received by Petitioner, which she attempted to offer as 

evidence of alleged discrimination and/or retaliation. However, because several of the LinkedIn 

notifications were dated beyond February 2019, the most recent act of discrimination, only those dated 

prior to February 2019 were admitted. 
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Unless otherwise indicated, all references to Florida Statutes will be to 

the 2019 codification, which was the version in effect at the time of the last 

event of the alleged discrimination. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

Based on the testimony and exhibits offered at the final hearing, the 

following Findings of Fact are made. 

 1. At all times material this matter, Petitioner was an unmarried woman. 

Petitioner, a resident of the state of Tennessee, was licensed to originate 

loans in Tennessee and Kentucky. She has been employed with RAC as a 

retail mortgage loan officer since December 22, 2014, without any gaps in 

employment. At all times material to this matter, Petitioner has not been 

terminated, nor has she voluntarily resigned from her employment with 

RAC. 

2. Respondent is a lender that operates a business engaging in 

underwriting, processing, and funding loans submitted by third-party loan 

originators. Respondent works with mortgage brokers, originators, and 

processors to approve and close loans. Respondent, a full-service mortgage 

company, operates in 25 states throughout the United States. Respondent is 

based in Tampa, Florida.  

3. The RAC procedure for processing loans requires the mortgage loan 

officer to submit a loan package to a designated loan processor. The loan 

processor then assigns the loan package to an underwriter for processing. 

Once the loan officer has submitted the loan package to the loan processor, 

the loan officer is responsible for “supervising” the transaction by providing 

additional information necessary for completion. Mortgage loan officers are 

then paid commission on each loan that closes, which they receive by 

submitting the corresponding pay sheet and credit invoices through payroll. 

4. Respondent employs six mortgage loan officers. Three of these loan 

officers are female, and three are male. Petitioner was one of the three female 

loan officers. As a loan officer employed by RAC, Petitioner agreed to submit 
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her loans exclusively to RAC for origination, processing, underwriting, and 

funding. 

5. Petitioner maintained a Kentucky mortgage license sponsorship with 

Respondent until February 2018. However, as of the date of the hearing, she 

continued to maintain her company-sponsored license in Tennessee.  

6. Throughout her employment with Respondent, Petitioner was 

supervised by Nick Ball, and she submitted loans for processing to Carol 

Estrada, a loan processor.  

7. Between 2015 and 2016, Petitioner submitted and received 

commissions on 12 loans. Although Petitioner remains employed, and is able 

to submit loans to Respondent for processing, she has not submitted a loan 

since 2016. 

8. Petitioner alleged Respondent discriminated against her based on her 

sex and marital status. The first allegation relates to Petitioner’s claim that 

Respondent colluded with her former employer regarding an unrelated 

discrimination complaint.  

9. By way of background, Petitioner was employed by First Choice 

Lending (“FCL”), a loan service company with offices in Tennessee and 

Kentucky. Petitioner filed a charge of discrimination against FCL in 

Tennessee alleging she had been wrongfully terminated based on her sex and 

marital status.  

10. Petitioner testified that she did not disclose the FCL discrimination 

complaint to Respondent. However, one month after she began working with 

Respondent, James Mannion, an account executive for Respondent, contacted 

Petitioner regarding her former employment with FCL. Petitioner testified 

that she disclosed to Mr. Mannion that she had been wrongfully terminated 

by FCL due to her sex and marital status. 

11. Petitioner testified that Mr. Mannion shared this information with 

Ms. Estrada. Petitioner alleged, without more than her own belief, that after 

learning about the FCL complaint, Ms. Estrada caused intentional and 
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prolonged turnaround times for loan processing which delayed her closings. 

Petitioner claimed that Ms. Estrada would not process her loans as quickly as 

she did for male loan officers. Petitioner alleged that the delays in loan 

processing resulted in loss when borrowers withdrew their loans. Petitioner 

testified that she reported the issues she had with Ms. Estrada to Mr. Ball. 

According to Petitioner, Mr. Ball did nothing to resolve the issues. 

12. However, on March 18, 2015, Mr. Ball sent an email to Petitioner and 

other RAC employees scheduling a meeting to discuss loan submissions. 

Ms. Estrada was one of the employees instructed to attend the meeting. 

Regarding any subsequent concerns about Ms. Estrada’s processing 

performance, Mr. Ball suggested that Petitioner call Ms. Estrada to follow up 

on requests. In an email dated March 25, 2015, Mr. Ball stated, “glad you two 

could clear the air … let me know if you have any more issues.” Finally, when 

Ms. Estrada was out sick, he suggested that Petitioner could assist with 

processing to move the loan packages along in the process. The evidence did 

not establish that Ms. Estrada’s processing of Petitioner’s loans was related 

to discrimination based on her sex or marital status. 

13. The alleged comparator Petitioner offered as someone who was treated 

better than her was a married, male mortgage loan officer. Petitioner 

testified that at some point after the telephonic meeting with Mr. Ball, she 

was contacted by one of the male loan officers who had also been on the call. 

Petitioner testified that the loan officer shared with her that Ms. Estrada had 

done a good job processing his loans and that his loans had been closing 

quickly. However, Petitioner was unable to identify the name or any personal 

identifying information about the male loan officer. Petitioner did not offer 

any evidence to demonstrate the marital status of the alleged comparator.  

 14. The greater weight of the evidence establishes that neither the FCL 

complaint nor the allegations alleged regarding RACs collusion with FCL 

involved any claim of discrimination recognized under the Florida Civil 
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Rights Act (“FCRA”). More importantly, the claim involved a different 

employer.  

 15. In her Complaint, Petitioner also alleged that Respondent caused the 

devaluation of her reputation and customer base. One of her past clients, 

Ms. Moore, is one of the clients she alleges had an issue with the delayed 

processing of her loan. 

16. Ms. Moore filed a complaint in July 2015. Respondent received the 

complaint filed with the Consumer Resources Division of the Tennessee 

Department of Financial Institutions regarding Respondent’s services 

(“Moore Complaint”). In the Moore Complaint, Ms. Moore claimed 

Respondent unprofessionally handled her loan application, which caused 

delays and expenses to complete the transaction. Upon receipt of the 

complaint, Respondent investigated the loan transaction history, and 

correspondence between Respondent and the complainant. After 

investigating the Moore Complaint, Respondent determined that Ms. Moore’s 

complaints related to issues that could commonly arise during loan 

processing. Respondent then sent a letter to Ms. Moore, notifying her that 

they found no irregular activity associated with the loan transaction.  

17. Regarding the allegation that RAC caused Petitioner’s reputation to be 

devalued in her profession, and that RAC made her less valuable to clients, 

Petitioner failed to meet the burden of proof. 

18. Petitioner also testified that in July 2016, Mr. Ball shared her contact 

information with a recruiter in an attempt to get Petitioner to leave the 

company. While Petitioner testified that the recruiter reached out to her 

numerous times beginning in September 2016, Petitioner admitted that she 

never actually spoke to the recruiter and, therefore, could not confirm 

whether her beliefs were correct. 

19. On or about February 1, 2018, Respondent received notice from the 

Nationwide Multistate Licensing System & Registry (NMLS) that Petitioner 

had ended her Kentucky mortgage license sponsorship with the company. 
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Mr. Ball emailed Petitioner and asked whether she was leaving RAC. 

Petitioner responded that she was not leaving the company. 

20. In January 2019, Respondent received a Cease and Desist Letter from 

Petitioner alleging RAC shared Petitioner’s personal information with FCL; 

participated in retaliation initiated by FCL; violated her constitutional 

rights; and caused harm to her business and professional reputation. In a 

letter dated February 13, 2019, RAC denied the allegations.  

21. Petitioner also alleged that Respondent hacked into her LinkedIn 

account to harass her. However, the evidence demonstrates that Petitioner’s 

anniversary post was automatically generated by LinkedIn. Based on the 

LinkedIn programming, the system automatically shares the employment 

anniversary with an employer and other significant dates (entered by the 

user upon creation of their account) on the user’s network account. In 

addition, the platform generates reminders or notices based on the user’s 

connections and background. 

22. Overall, the evidence offered at hearing was insufficient to 

demonstrate any adverse action has been taken against Respondent due to 

her sex or marital status. There are also no similarly situated employees 

outside of Petitioner's protected class to which Petitioner can be compared. 

Moreover, Petitioner offered no evidence at the hearing that she lost any 

commission or income due to the alleged discrimination. Rather, the evidence 

demonstrates she has not submitted a loan for processing, which is necessary 

for her to be paid commission, since 2016. The evidence was insufficient to 

demonstrate that RAC subjected Petitioner to discriminatory action. 

 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

23. The Division has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter of 

this cause pursuant to sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and 760.11(7), Florida 

Statutes. 
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24. Petitioner filed this action alleging RAC discriminated against her in 

violation of the FCRA. Specifically, Petitioner’s Complaint centers on her 

allegation that RAC discriminated against her based on her sex and marital 

status. The FCRA protects employees from age and disability discrimination 

in the workplace. See § 760.10-.11, Fla. Stat. Section 760.10 states, in 

pertinent part: 

(1) It is an unlawful employment practice for an   

     employer:  

 

(a) To discharge or to fail or refuse to hire any 

individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any 

individual with respect to compensation, terms, 

conditions, or privileges of employment, because of 

such individual’s race, color, religion, sex, 

pregnancy, national origin, age, handicap, or 

marital status. 

 

 25. Section 760.11(7) permits a party, for whom FCHR determines that 

there is not reasonable cause to believe that a violation of the FCRA has 

occurred, to request an administrative hearing before the Division. Following 

an administrative hearing, if the Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) finds 

that a discriminatory act has occurred, the ALJ “shall issue an appropriate 

recommended order to FCHR prohibiting the practice and recommending 

affirmative relief from the effects of the practice, including back pay.” 

§ 760.11(7), Fla. Stat. 

 26. Petitioner has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the 

evidence that Respondent committed an unlawful employment practice. 

See St. Louis v. Fla. Int’l Univ., 60 So. 3d 455 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011); Fla. Dep’t 

of Transp. v. J.W.C. Co., 396 So. 2d 778 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). 

 27. There is no dispute that RAC is an “employer” as that term is defined 

in section 760.02(7), which defines an employer as “any person employing 

15 or more employees for each working day in each of 20 or more calendar 
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weeks in the current or preceding calendar year, and any agent of such 

person.” 

 

Establishing Discrimination 

 28. Discrimination may be proven by direct, statistical, or circumstantial 

evidence. See Valenzuela v. GlobeGround N. Am., LLC, 18 So. 3d 17, 22 

(Fla. 3d DCA 2009). Direct evidence is evidence that, if believed, would prove 

the existence of discriminatory intent behind the employment decision 

without any inference or presumption. Denney v. City of Albany, 247 F.3d 

1172, 1182 (11th Cir. 2001); see also Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 1561 

(11th Cir. 1997), abrogated on other grounds by, Lewis v. City of Union City, 

Ga., 918 F. 3d 1213, 1218 (11th Cir. 2019)(en banc). “Only the most blatant 

remarks, whose intent could be nothing other than to discriminate on the 

basis of [sex or marital status] constitute direct evidence of 

discrimination.”. . .“For statements of discriminatory intent to constitute 

direct evidence of discrimination, they must be made by a person involved in 

the challenged decision.” Bass v. Bd. of Cty. Comm'rs, Orange Cty., Fla., 

256 F.3d 1095, 1105 (11th Cir. 2001)(citations omitted).  

29. In the absence of direct or statistical evidence of discriminatory intent, 

Petitioner must rely on circumstantial evidence of discrimination to prove her 

case. For discrimination claims involving circumstantial evidence, Florida 

courts follow the three-part, burden-shifting framework set forth in 

McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973), and its progeny, 

Valenzuela, 18 So. 3d at 21-2; see also St. Louis v. Fla. Int’l Univ., 60 So. 3d 

455, 458 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011). Under this well-established framework, a 

petitioner bears the initial burden of establishing, by a preponderance of the 

evidence, a prima facie case of discrimination.  

30. When the charging party is able to make out a prima facie case, the 

burden to go forward shifts to the employer to articulate a legitimate, non-

discriminatory explanation for the employment action. See Dep’t of Corr. v. 
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Chandler, 582 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(court discusses shifting 

burdens of proof in discrimination cases). The employer has the burden of 

production, not one of persuasion, and as a result, it is not required to 

persuade the finder of fact that the decision was non-discriminatory. Id.; 

Alexander v. Fulton Cty., Ga., 207 F.3d 1303, 1335 (11th Cir. 2000). 

31. The employee must then come forward with specific evidence 

demonstrating that the reasons given by the employer are a pretext for 

discrimination. Schoenfeld v. Babbitt, 168 F.3d 1257, 1267 (11th Cir. 1999). 

The employee must satisfy this burden by showing directly that a 

discriminatory reason more likely than not motivated the decision, or 

indirectly by showing that the proffered reason for the employment decision 

is not worthy of belief. Chandler, 582 So. 2d at 1186; Alexander v. Fulton 

Cty., Ga., 207 F.3d at 1336.  

32. “Although the intermediate burdens of production shift back and forth, 

the ultimate burden of persuading the trier of fact that the employer 

intentionally discriminated against the [Petitioner] remains at all times with 

the [Petitioner].” EEOC v. Joe’s Stone Crabs, Inc., 296 F.3d 1265 (11th Cir. 

2002); see also Byrd v. RT Foods, Inc., 948 So. 2d 921, 927 (Fla. 4th DCA 

2007)(“The ultimate burden of proving intentional discrimination against the 

plaintiff remains with the plaintiff at all times.”). 

33. Petitioner presented no direct evidence of discrimination based on sex 

or marital status on the part of RAC. Similarly, the record in this proceeding 

contains no statistical evidence of discrimination by RAC in its personnel 

decisions related to Petitioner. 

34. In the absence of direct or statistical evidence of discriminatory intent, 

Petitioner must rely on circumstantial evidence of discrimination based on 

sex or marital status to prove her case. For discrimination claims involving 

circumstantial evidence, Florida Courts follow the three-part, burden-shifting 

framework set forth in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 
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(1973), and its progeny. See also Valenzuela, 18 So. 3d at 21-2; and St. Louis 

v. Fla. Int'l Univ., 60 So. 3d 455, 458 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011). 

35. Under the McDonnell Douglas framework, a petitioner bears the 

initial burden of establishing, by a preponderance of the evidence, a prima 

facie case of discrimination. To establish a prima facie case, Petitioner must 

demonstrate that: (1) she is a member of a protected class; (2) she was 

qualified for her position; (3) she was subjected to an adverse employment 

action; and (4) her employer treated similarly situated employees outside of 

her protected class more favorably than she was treated. See McDonnell 

Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802-04; Burke-Fowler v. Orange Cty., 447 F.3d 1319, 

1323 (11th Cir. 2006). Demonstrating a prima facie case is not difficult, but 

rather only requires the “plaintiff to establish facts adequate to permit an 

inference of discrimination.” Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d 1555, 1562 (11th Cir. 

1997). 

36. If Petitioner establishes a prima facie case, she creates a presumption 

of discrimination. At that point, the burden shifts to the employer to 

articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for taking the adverse 

employment action. Valenzuela, 18 So. 3d at 22. The reason for the 

employer’s decision should be clear, reasonably specific, and worthy of 

credence. Dep’t of Corr. v. Chandler, 582 So. 2d 1183, 1186 (Fla. 1st DCA 

1991), abrogated on other grounds by, Lewis v. City of Union City, Ga., 

918 F. 3d 1213, 1218 (11th Cir. 2019)(en banc). The employer has the burden 

of production, not the burden of persuasion to demonstrate to the finder of 

fact that the decision was non-discriminatory. See Wilson v. B/E Aerospace, 

Inc., 376 F.3d 1079, 1087 (11th Cir. 2004). This burden of production is 

“exceedingly light.” Holifield, 115 F.3d at 1564. The employer only needs to 

produce evidence of a reason for its decision. It is not required to persuade 

the trier of fact that its decision was actually motivated by the reason given. 

See St. Mary's Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502 (U.S. 1993).  
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37. If the employer meets its burden, the presumption of discrimination 

disappears. The burden then shifts back to the employee to prove that the 

employer’s proffered reason was not the true reason but merely a “pretext” 

for discrimination. See Combs v. Plantation Patterns, 106 F.3d 1519, 1538 

(11th Cir. 1997); Valenzuela, 18 So. 3d at 25. In order to satisfy this final step 

of the process, the employee must “show[] directly that a discriminatory 

reason more likely than not motivated the decision, or indirectly by showing 

that the proffered reason for the employment decision is not worthy of belief.” 

Chandler, 582 So. 2d at 1186 (citing Tex. Dep't of Cmty. Affairs v. Burdine, 

450 U.S. 248, 252-56 (1981)). The proffered explanation is unworthy of belief 

if Petitioner demonstrates “such weaknesses, implausibilities, 

inconsistencies, incoherencies, or contradictions in the employer’s proffered 

legitimate reasons for its action that a reasonable factfinder could find them 

unworthy of credence.” Combs, 106 F.3d at 1538; see also Reeves v. Sanderson 

Plumbing Prods., Inc., 530 U.S. 133, 143 (2000). Petitioner must prove that 

the reasons articulated were false and that the discrimination was the real 

reason for the defendant's actions. City of Miami v. Hervis, 65 So. 3d 1110, 

1117 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011)(citing St. Mary’s Honor Ctr., 509 U.S. at 515) (“[A] 

reason cannot be proved to be ‘a pretext for discrimination’ unless it is shown 

both that the reason was false, and that discrimination was the real 

reason.”). 

38. Despite the shifting burdens of proof, “the ultimate burden of 

persuading the trier of fact that the defendant intentionally discriminated 

against the plaintiff remains at all 17 times with the plaintiff.” Burdine, 

450 U.S. at 253; Valenzuela, 18 So. 3d at 22. 

39. In the instant case, Petitioner did not present sufficient evidence of 

direct evidence of discrimination based on sex or marital status. Similarly, 

the record in this proceeding contains no statistical evidence of 

discrimination. 
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40. In the absence of direct or statistical evidence of discriminatory intent, 

Petitioner must rely on circumstantial evidence of discrimination to prove her 

case. 

41. Petitioner established the first two elements: (1) she is a member of a 

protected class as she is an unmarried woman; and (2) it is undisputed that 

she was qualified for the position as she possessed the requisite licensure and 

experience as a mortgage loan officer.  

42. Regarding the third element, the evidence offered at hearing does not 

demonstrate that Petitioner suffered an adverse employment action. 

Petitioner alleged she received reduced commissions as a result of the loan 

processing. To receive a commission, Petitioner would need to submit a loan 

for processing. The evidence established that she received a commission for 

each loan she submitted. The record also established that, despite continuing 

to be employed with RAC, she has not submitted any loans to RAC for 

processing since 2016.  

43. Even if Petitioner had suffered an adverse employment decision, she 

could not identify a similarly situated married man to meet the fourth 

“comparator” element of her claim. Petitioner must show she is similarly 

situated in all material respects to the married male loan officer, the 

employee she claims RAC extended preferential treatment. See Woods v. 

Cent. Fellowship Christian Acad., 545 F. App'x 939, 945 (11th Cir. 2013).  

44. As recently explained in Mac Papers, Inc. v. Boyd, 304 So. 3d 406, 409 

(Fla. 1st DCA 2020):  

Picking a single comparator with inadequate, 

irrelevant, or superficial similarities falls short of 

what the law requires. Courts require that 

comparators be meaningful, which explains why 

the Eleventh Circuit—which reviewed the 

oftentimes discordant caselaw on the topic— 

recently decided en banc that comparators must be 

"similarly situated in all material respects." Lewis 

v. City of Union City, Georgia, 918 F.3d 1213, 1218 

(11th Cir. 2019) (rejecting "nearly-identical 
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standard" as too rigid and rejecting "not useless" as 

too lax).  

 

                 * * * 

 

With Lewis and its progeny as our guideposts, 

Swift fails as a valid comparator. Consistent with 

Lewis, a "comparator's misconduct must be similar 

in all material respects." McPhie v. Yeager, 

819 Fed.Appx. 696, 698–99 (11th Cir. 2020) 

(applying Lewis). 

 

45. Here, the alleged comparator Petitioner offered as someone who was 

treated better than her was a married male mortgage loan officer. However, 

Petitioner was unable to identify the name or any personal identifying 

information about the loan officer that she offered as a comparator. Moreover, 

other than her uncorroborated statement, Petitioner also did not offer any 

evidence to demonstrate the marital status of the alleged comparator. As a 

result, Petitioner has failed to prove the fourth element necessary to 

demonstrate that a similarly situated married man was treated better than 

she was treated. 

 

Legitimate, Non-discriminatory Reason  

46. Assuming, arguendo, that Petitioner established a prima facie case, 

the burden would shift to Respondent to proffer a legitimate, non-

discriminatory reason for its action.  

47. Respondent met its burden by producing substantial credible evidence 

that Petitioner was not terminated and the lack of earned commission was 

based solely on Petitioner’s failure to submit loans for processing. 

 

Pretext  

48. If Petitioner established a prima facie case of discrimination, then 

upon Respondent’s production of evidence of a legitimate non-discriminatory 

reason for its action, the burden would shift back to Petitioner to prove by a 
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preponderance of the evidence that Respondent’s stated reasons were not its 

true reasons, but were a pretext for discrimination.   

49. The record of this proceeding does not support a finding or a 

conclusion that Respondent’s proffered explanation for its decisions were 

false or not worthy of credence, nor does it support an inference that the 

explanation was pretextual. 

 50. For the reasons set forth herein, Petitioner failed to prove 

circumstantial evidence of discrimination based on sex or marital status 

under McDonnell Douglas and its progeny.  

 

Retaliation  

 51. The FCRA’s retaliation provision comes in two forms--opposition-based 

or participation-based conduct. With regard to those forms of conduct, it is 

established that “[a]n employee is protected from discrimination if (1) ‘he has 

opposed any practice made an unlawful employment practice by this 

subchapter’ (the opposition clause) or (2) ‘he has made a charge, testified, 

assisted, or participated in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or 

hearing under this subchapter’ (the participation clause).” Clover v. Total 

Sys. Servs., Inc., 176 F.3d 1346, 1350 (11th Cir. 1999).  

 52. “Section 760.10(7), Florida Statutes, is virtually identical to its 

Federal Title VII counterpart, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a). The FCRA is patterned 

after Title VII; federal case law on Title VII applies to FCRA claims.” Hinton 

v. Supervision Int'l, Inc., 942 So. 2d 986, 989 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006)(quoting 

Guess v. City of Miramar, 889 So. 2d 840, 846 n.2 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005)).  

 53. In construing 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a), the Eleventh Circuit has held that:  

 

[t]he statute's participation clause “protects 

proceedings and activities which occur in 

conjunction with or after the filing of a formal 

charge with the EEOC.” . . . The opposition clause, 

on the other hand, protects activity that occurs 

before the filing of a formal charge with the EEOC, 
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such as submitting an internal complaint of 

discrimination to an employer, or informally 

complaining of discrimination to a supervisor. 

(citations omitted).  

 

Muhammad v. Audio Visual Servs. Grp., 380 Fed. Appx. 864, 872 (11th Cir. 

2010). The division of section 760.10(7) into the “opposition clause” and the 

“participation clause” is recognized by Florida state courts. See Blizzard v. 

Appliance Direct, Inc., 16 So. 3d 922, 925-26 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009). In 

explaining the difference between the two clauses, the Second District Court 

of Appeal has held that:  

 

FCRA's “opposition clause [protects] employees who 

have opposed unlawful [employment practices].” . . . 

However, opposition claims usually involve 

“activities such as ‘making complaints to 

management, writing critical letters to customers, 

protesting against discrimination by industry or by 

society in general, and expressing support of 

coworkers who have filed formal charges.’” . . . 

Cases involving retaliatory acts committed after 

the employee has filed a charge with the relevant 

administrative agency usually arise under the 

participation clause.  

 

Carter v. Health Mgmt. Assoc., 989 So. 2d 1258, 1263 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008). 

 54. Regarding the broad coverage afforded under the participation clause, 

the Eleventh Circuit has explained:  

Congress chose to protect employees who 

“participate[ ] in any manner” in an EEOC 

investigation. The words “participate in any 

manner” express Congress’ intent to confer 

“exceptionally broad protection” upon employees 

covered by Title VII . . . . “the adjective ‘any’ is not 

ambiguous . . . . [It] has an expansive meaning, 

that is, one or some indiscriminately of whatever 

kind . . . . [A]ny means all.” Because participation 

in an employer’s investigation conducted in 

response to a notice of charge of discrimination is a 

form of participation, indirect as it is, in an EEOC 
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investigation, such participation is sufficient to 

bring the employee within the protection of the 

participation clause.  

 

Clover v. Total Sys. Servs., Inc., 176 F.3d at 1353. 

 55. In order to establish a prima facie claim of retaliation under the 

participation clause, a petitioner must, “in addition to filing formal charges 

with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) or its 

designated representative, [a petitioner] was required to demonstrate: (1) a 

statutorily protected expression; (2) an adverse employment action; and, (3) a 

causal connection between the participation in the protected expression and 

the adverse action.” Hinton v. Supervision Int’l, Inc., 942 So. 2d at 990. 

 56. Here neither of Petitioner’s complaints were predicated on, or 

investigated as, incidents of discrimination. Respondent’s alleged acts of 

retaliation were solely based upon the FCL complaint, and the alleged 

retaliatory adverse action that resulted from the allegations that RAC based 

its actions upon the FCL complaint. However, FCL was Petitioner’s prior 

employer with no direct relationship with RAC. In addition, there was 

insufficient evidence of adverse employment action that occurred prior to 

Petitioner filing her Complaint of Discrimination. Assuming RAC’s internal 

investigation of the Moore complaint could be related to Petitioner’s 

allegations of discrimination, the resulting internal investigation was not the 

result of Petitioner having “made a charge, testified, assisted, or participated 

in any manner in an investigation, proceeding, or hearing … .” § 760.10(7), 

Fla. Stat. Moreover, Petitioner’s alleged basis for retaliation was based on the 

FCL complaint, which involved a different employer.  

 57. Claims under the opposition clause are not subject to the same degree 

of “expansive protection” that arises after a claim of discrimination is filed 

with the appropriate civil rights agency. Rather: 

Opposition clause acts, however, are taken outside 

of the context of a government review and, instead, 

are taken in the context of the ordinary business 
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environment and involve employers and employees 

as employers and employees. As in this case, 

whether to fire an employee for lying to the 

employer in the course of the business's conduct of 

an important internal investigation is basically a 

business decision; this decision, as with most 

business decisions, is not for the courts to second-

guess as a kind of super-personnel department. 

 

EEOC v. Total Sys. Servs., 221 F.3d at 1176 (citing Damon v. Fleming 

Supermarkets of Fla., Inc., 196 F.3d at 1361). 

 58. The record of this proceeding contains no direct or statistical evidence 

of any retaliation on the part of Respondent as a result of Petitioner’s 

opposition to acts of discrimination directed against others as a result of their 

sex or marital status.  

 59. In order to establish a prima facie case of retaliation, Petitioner must 

demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence: “(1) that [she] engaged in 

statutorily protected expression; (2) that [she] suffered an adverse 

employment action; and (3) there is some causal relationship between the two 

events.” (citations omitted). Holifield v. Reno, 115 F.3d at 1566; see also 

Muhammad v. Audio Visual Servs. Grp., 380 Fed. Appx. at 872; Tipton v. 

Canadian Imperial Bank, 872 F.2d 1491 (11th Cir. 1989). 

60. Petitioner’s claim of retaliation is directed exclusively to her allegation 

that she was retaliated against as a result of her complaint filed against FCL 

and RAC’s alleged actions based on the FCL complaint. That is simply not a 

statutorily protected expression. Her allegations have nothing to do with 

whether the alleged wrongful conduct was the result of her sex, or as a result 

of her marital status.  

61. For the reasons set forth herein, Petitioner did not meet her burden to 

establish a prima facie case of discrimination by retaliation. 

 62. The evidence offered at the final hearing was not sufficient to meet the 

burden of proof to establish, by a preponderance of evidence, that Respondent 
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subjected Petitioner to discrimination on the basis of her sex or marital 

status. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, it is 

RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations issue a 

final order finding that Respondent, Residential Acceptance Corporation, did 

not commit any unlawful employment practice as to Petitioner, Mary Setzer, 

and dismissing the Petition for Relief filed in this matter. 

 

DONE AND ENTERED this 28th day of January, 2021, in Tallahassee, Leon 

County, Florida. 

S  

YOLONDA Y. GREEN 

Administrative Law Judge 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 28th day of January, 2021. 
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Florida Commission on Human Relations 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 15 days from 

the date of this Recommended Order. Any exceptions to this Recommended 

Order should be filed with the agency that will issue the Final Order in this 

case. 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 
 

YOANDRA LOPEZ GARCIA, 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

PARSEC, INC., 

 

     Respondent. 

                                                                  / 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 20-2271 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ORDER  

The final hearing in this matter was conducted before Administrative Law 

Judge ("ALJ") Brittany O. Finkbeiner of the Division of Administrative 

Hearings ("DOAH"), on September 2 and 3, 2020, via Zoom conference.  

 

APPEARANCES 

For Petitioner:  Javier A. Basnuevo, Esquire  

                                Roberts, P.A. 

                                2665 South Bayshore Drive, Suite 300 

                                Coconut Grove, Florida  33133 

 

For Respondent: Jennifer A. Schwartz, Esquire 

                                Naveen Paul, Esquire 

                                Jackson Lewis, PC 

                                One Biscayne Tower, Suite 3500 

                                2 South Biscayne Boulevard 

                                Miami, Florida  33131 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

The issue in this case is whether Respondent, Parsec, Inc. ("Respondent" 

or "Parsec"), is liable to Petitioner, Yoandra Lopez Garcia ("Petitioner" or 

"Ms. Lopez Garcia"), for discrimination based on pregnancy.  
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Petitioner filed a complaint with the Florida Commission on Human 

Relations ("Commission") on June 11, 2019, alleging that Respondent 

discriminated against her pursuant to chapter 760, Florida Statutes, the 

Florida Civil Rights Act ("FCRA"), on the basis of her pregnancy.  

 

The Commission conducted an investigation and, on April 9, 2020, issued 

a determination that there was no reasonable cause to conclude that an 

unlawful employment practice occurred.  

 

On May 11, 2020, Petitioner timely filed a Petition for Relief ("Petition"), 

asserting that, after she announced her pregnancy in the workplace: 1) her 

alleged promotion was rescinded; and 2) she was constructively discharged. 

The Commission referred the Petition to DOAH on May 13, 2020, for the 

assignment of an ALJ to conduct a formal administrative hearing under 

section 120.57, Florida Statutes. 

 

The final hearing occurred on September 2 and 3, 2020. Ms. Lopez Garcia 

testified on her own behalf and presented the testimony of Cindy Johnson, 

Jeffrey Bladen ("Mr. Bladen"), and Dr. Sidiq Aldabbagh. Petitioner’s Exhibits 

4, 6 through 10, and 12 through 15 were admitted into evidence. Respondent 

presented the testimony of Cindy Johnson, Jeffrey Bladen, Joan Fardales 

("Mr. Fardales"), Amaurys Garcia ("Mr. Garcia"), and Lisandra Ochoa 

Granado ("Ms. Ochoa"). Respondent’s Exhibits 1, 6, 7, 9, 14 through 23, 25, 

26, 30, and 31 were admitted into evidence.  

 

The five-volume Transcript was filed with DOAH on December 3, 2020. 

Based on their joint motion for an extension of time, the parties were given 

until January 12, 2021, to file their proposed recommended orders. The 

parties’ proposed recommended orders were timely filed in conformity with 
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the extended deadline; both were duly considered in the preparation of this 

Recommended Order.  

 

All references to the Florida Statutes refer to the 2017 version, unless 

otherwise stated. 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

Based on the demeanor and credibility of the witnesses, the documentary 

evidence admitted, and the record as a whole, the following facts are found: 

The Parties and Complaint Allegations 

1. Parsec is an intermodal transportation operator that contracts with 

railroads to load and unload shipping containers.  

2. Parsec hired Ms. Lopez Garcia on November 18, 2013, as an 

administrative clerk. At all times relevant to this proceeding, Petitioner held 

the position of Administrative Manager at Parsec’s Miami Terminal. 

3. On June 11, 2019, Petitioner filed a complaint, under penalty of 

perjury, with the Commission. Petitioner’s complaint claims, in its entirety: 

I am a female. I was discriminated against because 

of my gender (pregnancy). I began working for 

Respondent on November 23, 2013, as an 

Administrative Manager. I was given a promotion 

after being discriminated against. When I 

complained to the Regional Manager that 

individuals with no knowledge or seniority were 

given positions that I had applied for and I was 

never given an interview, the Regional Manager 

"offered" me the position. While I was in training 

and had fully trained someone else in my old 

position, I found out that I was pregnant. My 

supervisor, (Terminal Manager) demoted me 

without telling me and brought in a family member 

to occupy my position for no reason other than the 

fact that I was pregnant. I went out on maternity 

leave and my supervisor asked me if I was going to 

come back to work in my old position. I told him 
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"no" and I felt I had no other choice but to quit my 

job. 

 

Parsec’s Structure 

4. Aside from Petitioner’s administrative position, the duties of which she 

performed inside the office, Parsec’s Miami Terminal also employed Gate 

Inspectors and Load Out Clerks, which were also categorized as office 

positions. Parsec’s operations also required a number of outdoor, or "yard" 

positions, including Ground Person/Tie-Down, Hitch Verifier, Driver, and 

Crane Operator. Finally, Parsec’s Miami Terminal had the following 

supervisory positions: Lead Man, Yard Supervisor, and Terminal Manager. 

5. The Terminal Manager position was the highest-level position at 

Parsec’s Miami Terminal.  

6. Mr. Bladen was Parsec’s General Manager. Mr. Fardales was the 

Regional Manager for Parsec’s Florida locations. Mr. Fardales had also 

worked as Parsec’s Terminal Manager in the Miami Terminal.  

7. At Parsec, it was not uncommon for employees to train for other 

positions in addition to their present job duties. If an employee voiced an 

interest in a different position or a promotion within the company, additional 

training was commonly accommodated.   

Petitioner’s Desired Promotion and Training 

8. In her role as Administrative Manager, Petitioner was the highest-level 

administrative employee in Parsec’s Miami terminal. However, because it 

was an administrative position inside the office, the Administrative Manager 

position was not eligible for promotion to higher-level supervisory positions at 

Parsec, which required training outdoors, or "in the yard." 

9. The Terminal Manager position at the Miami Terminal required 

overseeing all of the operations and personnel in the terminal, including 

office, gate, and yard operations. Additionally, the Terminal Manager had to 

have the necessary training, skill, and ability to physically perform the duties 

of all other positions in the yard.  
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10. In order to sufficiently master all of the duties that were supervised 

and performed by the Terminal Manager, at least two years of experience in 

the yard was necessary.  

11. Around April of 2017, Petitioner went to lunch with Mr. Bladen and 

Mr. Fardales. During that lunch, Petitioner expressed her desire to become 

the Terminal Manager. Mr. Bladen and Mr. Fardales agreed to allow 

Petitioner to train in the yard to give her the opportunity to acquire the yard 

experience she would need to move up within the company. At that time, 

there was an open Yard Supervisor position at the Miami Terminal. 

Mr. Fardales intended to consider Petitioner for the Yard Supervisor position 

if she completed the requisite training.  

12. Petitioner was not promoted to, or offered, the Terminal Manager 

position. Her job classification of Administrative Manager at Parsec never 

changed. Petitioner was, however, allowed to train in the yard to give her the 

opportunity to earn a promotion in the future.  

13. In August of 2017, Parsec hired Ms. Ochoa, whom Petitioner 

recommended for the position, to assist Petitioner with her job duties in the 

office, thereby allowing Petitioner to train in the yard.  

Petitioner’s Pregnancy and Cessation of Training 

14. In September of 2017, Ms. Lopez Garcia learned that she was 

pregnant. Her testimony as to when she informed Mr. Fardales of her 

pregnancy was inconsistent. During the hearing, Petitioner first testified that 

she informed Mr. Fardales of her pregnancy in November, then she testified 

that she told him in the beginning of December, or a few days before he 

allegedly removed her from the training program.  

15. On October 6, 2017, an email was sent from Petitioner’s email account 

to Mr. Fardales, wherein Petitioner informed Mr. Fardales that she was 

changing her shift because she had an appointment for an ultrasound. 

Mr. Fardales testified credibly that he knew by that time that Petitioner was 

pregnant and assumed that the ultrasound was related to her pregnancy. 
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Ms. Lopez Garcia testified that she may not have been the sender of the 

email, although it was from her account. Ms. Lopez Garcia also suggested 

that the ultrasound referenced in the email may not have been related to her 

pregnancy, but instead related to a completely different medical issue 

affecting her leg. Petitioner’s obstetrician, Dr. Aldabbagh, however, testified 

that Petitioner had an appointment with him on the date of the email, which 

included an abdominal ultrasound. Petitioner’s testimony on this topic was 

not persuasive when balanced with other, more credible, contradictory 

evidence.   

16. Ms. Lopez Garcia testified that Mr. Fardales called her into his office 

and told her that she would no longer be training in the yard, but would 

instead return to her duties inside the office. Petitioner further testified that 

Ms. Ochoa overheard the conversation, and when Petitioner left 

Mr. Fardales’s office, Petitioner and Ms. Ochoa both cried. Ms. Ochoa, 

however, testified that this event never took place and that she would have 

recalled it if it had. Ms. Lopez Garcia’s testimony on this topic is rejected to 

the extent that it conflicts with the testimony of Ms. Ochoa.  

17. Although Petitioner claims that Mr. Fardales removed her from the 

training program against her will because of her pregnancy, she testified that 

she never asked him for an explanation. Additionally, Petitioner never 

notified Parsec’s human resources department to complain about her removal 

from training. Parsec had anti-discrimination policies in place, which 

included a reporting procedure for employees. There is no evidence in the 

record that Petitioner mentioned alleged discriminated to anyone prior to 

filing her complaint with the Commission. Mr. Fardales testified that 

Petitioner left the training program voluntarily, but he did not remember her 

specific reasons. Parsec’s Corporate Representative testified that Petitioner  

asked to stop training in the yard because of complications with her 

pregnancy. The evidence did not conclusively establish why Petitioner 

stopped training. The evidence also did not establish exactly when Petitioner 
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stopped training in the yard, but the evidence did establish that she had 

ceased training by December 2017. 

18. After she stopped training in the yard, Petitioner continued 

performing her duties in the office.  

19. In February of 2018, Petitioner went on maternity leave due to 

complications with her pregnancy.  

20. Parsec approved Petitioner’s request for leave under the Family and 

Medical Leave Act ("FMLA"), from February 26, 2018, through May 20, 2018.  

21. Parsec approved Petitioner’s request for non-FMLA medical leave from 

May 21, 2018, through June 20, 2018.  

Hiring of New Terminal Manager 

22. In December of 2017, Mr. Fardales hired Mr. Garcia as the Terminal 

Manager at Parsec’s Miami Terminal. Mr. Garcia first began working for 

Parsec, in a yard position, in 1997. Subsequently, Mr. Garcia spent years in 

other yard positions at Parsec, including six months as a  

Tie-Down Person and four years as a Crane Operator. He also drove tractors 

and held the position of Lead Man for Parsec. Mr. Garcia performed similar 

duties for another intermodal company for ten years, between 2002 and 2012; 

again at Parsec from 2012-2013; and at a different company as a railcar 

inspector from 2013-2017. Mr. Fardales hired Mr. Garcia for the Terminal 

Manager position, having determined that he was the most qualified for the 

position based on his experience. Mr. Fardales testified credibly that he is not 

related to Mr. Garcia. Petitioner did not present any evidence that 

Mr. Garcia was related to Mr. Fardales, although a familial relationship was 

alleged in her complaint to the Commission.  

23. Several other individuals applied for the Terminal Manager position, 

including Ms. Lopez Garcia. Ms. Lopez Garcia was not selected for the 

position because she did not have the requisite qualifications.  

24. The other individuals whom Mr. Fardales interviewed for the 

Terminal Manager position, but were not selected, include: Jorge Fernandez, 
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Raciel Crespo, Lazaro Paredes, Ariel Peraza, and Jorge Torres. All of the 

other applicants for the Terminal Manager position were non-pregnant and 

male. 

25. Jorge Fernandez worked at Parsec for approximately ten years and 

had experience as a Gate Inspector, Load Out Clerk, Ground Person, and 

Driver. Mr. Fardales did not select him for the Terminal Manager position. 

26. Raciel Crespo had over ten years of experience working for Parsec, 

including working as a Gate Inspector, Ground Person, Driver, and Crane 

Operator. Mr. Fardales did not select him for the Terminal Manager position. 

27. Lazaro Paredes had over twenty years of experience in Parsec’s 

industry. He had experience in load-out, grounding, driving, and supervisory 

duties in the yard. Mr. Fardales did not select him for the Terminal Manager 

position. 

28. Ariel Peraza had between eight and ten years of experience in Parsec’s 

industry. He had worked as a Gate Inspector, Ground Man, Driver, And 

Crane Operator. Mr. Fardales did not select him for the Terminal Manager 

position. 

29. Jorge Torres had between three and five years of experience in 

Parsec’s industry. He had worked as a Ground Man, Driver, Lead Man, and 

Supervisor. Mr. Fardales did not select him for the Terminal Manager 

position. 

Alleged Discriminatory Comments 

30. Ms. Lopez Garcia testified that Mr. Fardales made comments to her or 

in her presence on a number of occasions that were generally disparaging to 

women in the workplace; and specifically with respect to pregnancy, 

motherhood, and sexual orientation. Petitioner did not identify other 

witnesses to Mr. Fardales’s alleged discriminatory comments, nor did any 

witness in this case corroborate her testimony on the comments. Mr. Fardales 

denied ever making any of the alleged disparaging comments about women in 

the workplace. Given the totality of the evidence, or lack thereof, about the 
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negative comments about women, Petitioner’s testimony on the subject lacks 

credibility and is rejected.  

Petitioner’s Resignation  

31. Ms. Ochoa testified that she knew Petitioner planned to leave Parsec 

prior to Petitioner’s resignation. Ms. Ochoa declined to pursue another job 

opportunity to remain at Parsec based on her belief that Petitioner would not 

be returning, thereby allowing Ms. Ochoa to remain in Petitioner’s previous 

position permanently. Ms. Ochoa believed that Petitioner resigned because 

she had a daughter; she had her whole life in front of her; she had another 

business to take care of, specifically, a beauty salon; and Parsec was no 

longer important to her.  

32. On her 2019 tax return, Petitioner listed herself as the proprietor of a 

beauty salon. Petitioner testified, however, that the tax return was 

inaccurate in this respect and she did not know how such a mistake could 

have been made, because her taxes were done by an accountant. Ms. Lopez 

Garcia’s denial of any accountability for, or knowledge of, the information 

contained in her tax return was not believable, and therefore undermined her 

credibility. 

33. On May 30, 2018, while she was still out on maternity leave, 

Ms. Lopez Garcia called Mr. Fardales. Although Ms. Lopez Garcia and 

Mr. Fardales recalled different accounts of their phone conversation, both 

agreed that Petitioner resigned from Parsec during the call. Ms. Lopez Garcia 

testified that she resigned because Mr. Fardales refused to let her resume 

training in the yard when she returned from maternity leave. Mr. Fardales, 

however, denies that they discussed Petitioner’s training status at all during 

the conversation. Further, Petitioner testified that although she resigned, she 

told Mr. Fardales that she would reconsider contingent on him changing his 

mind about removing her from training in the yard. The details of the content 

of the conversation were not conclusively established.  
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34. Mr. Fardales documented Petitioner’s verbal resignation in an email 

dated May 30, 2018. On the same day, Ms. Ochoa drafted a separation letter 

regarding Petitioner’s employment to send to Parsec’s corporate office in 

Cincinnati. She did so at the direction of Mr. Fardales.   

35. When Petitioner resigned, Parsec’s human resources department did 

not record the resignation as being effective immediately in order to afford 

Petitioner the continued coverage of her short-term disability benefits for the 

remainder of her maternity leave. Petitioner’s medical certification from her 

physician indicated that Petitioner could return to work on Wednesday, June 

20, 2018. Human Resources made the decision to deem Petitioner’s 

resignation effective on Friday, June 22, 2018, so that she would receive 

short-term disability benefits for a full week.  

 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

36. DOAH has personal and subject matter jurisdiction in this proceeding 

pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57(1). 

37. In considering the proof offered to establish the facts of this case, the 

undersigned is bound by the limitations on the use of hearsay evidence in 

administrative proceedings, as set forth in section 120.57(1)(c), which states, 

"[h]earsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or 

explaining other evidence, but it shall not be sufficient in itself to support a 

finding unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions." 

38. Findings of Fact were made, however, with respect to the non-hearsay 

statements and conversations that relate to potential discrimination. Such 

statements or conversations were admitted as verbal acts having 

independent legal significance in proving, or disproving, Petitioner’s claim of 

discrimination. Because the determination of whether certain verbal acts 

occurred in this case, as part of the factual predicate underlying the claim 

against Respondent, they have independent legal significance and were not 

offered for the truth of the matters asserted. See A.J. v. State, 677 So. 2d 935 
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(Fla 4th DCA 1996); Cephas v. State Dep't. of HRS, 719 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 2d DCA 

1998).  

Timeliness of Petitioner’s Complaint 

39. Parsec asserts that Ms. Lopez Garcia’s claim is time-barred because 

she filed her complaint with the Commission beyond the statutory deadline. 

40. A person aggrieved by a violation of the FCRA "may file a complaint 

with the [C]ommission within 365 days of the alleged violation." § 760.11(1), 

Fla. Stat.  

41. "[D]iscrete discriminatory acts are not actionable if time-barred, even 

when they are related to acts alleged in timely filed charges." Nat'l R.R. 

Passenger Corp., v. Morgan, 536 U.S. 101, 102 (2002). Failure to promote and 

denial of training are both discrete acts of discrimination. Id. at 115. A time-

barred act cannot justify filing a complaint for an act of termination that was 

not independently discriminatory. Id. at 113. 

42. "[T]he limitations period begins running at the time the employee is 

notified that the decision was made to engage in the discriminatory 

employment practice, not when the effects of the decision began." 

Del. State Coll. v. Ricks, 449 U.S. 250, 259, (1980). The pendency of a 

grievance, or another method of collateral review of an employment decision, 

does not toll the limitations period. Id. at 251. According to Petitioner’s 

testimony, she was removed from training by December 2017; then 

Mr. Fardales confirmed that decision during their conversation on May 30, 

2018. Even if Petitioner’s version of events were credible, she could not revive 

a claim by reiterating her request for training where it had already been 

denied. Petitioner’s complaint was still untimely because the June 11, 2019, 

filing of her complaint is more than 365 days from Mr. Fardales’s purported 

May 30, 2018, comments.  

43. Because it is undisputed that Petitioner left, or was removed from, the 

training program in December of 2017, and Petitioner did not file her 

complaint with the Commission until June 11, 2019, her claim is time-barred. 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1980150635&pubNum=0000780&originatingDoc=I15fecca0438a11eba2b1a4871050f176&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_780_259&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Keycite)#co_pp_sp_780_259
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The alleged discriminatory act occurred outside of the 365-day period, 

making it immaterial to the resolution of this case, whether or not Petitioner 

was awaiting a decision on Parsec’s intention to allow her to return to the 

training program at the time her employment officially ended.  

44. Even if Ms. Lopez Garcia’s complaint were timely, her claim would 

still fail on the merits, based on the following analysis.  

Merits of Petitioner’s Claim 

45. The burden of proof in this proceeding is on Ms. Lopez Garcia as the 

petitioner. See Dep’t of Banking & Fin., Div. of Sec. & Investor Prot. v. 

Osborne Stern & Co., 670 So. 2d 932 (Fla. 1996). To prove a violation of the 

FCRA, Ms. Lopez Garcia must establish a prima facie case of discrimination 

by a preponderance of the evidence. See Valenzuela v. GlobeGround N. Am., 

LLC, 18 So. 3d 17, 22 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009). A preponderance of the evidence is 

defined as "the greater weight of the evidence," or evidence that "more likely 

than not" tends to prove a certain proposition. S. Fla. Water Mgmt. Dist. v. 

RLI Live Oak, LLC, 139 So. 3d 869, 872 (Fla. 2014). 

46. The FCRA prohibits discrimination in the workplace. Among other 

things, the FCRA makes it unlawful for an employer: 

To discharge or to fail or refuse to hire any 

individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any 

individual with respect to compensation, terms, 

conditions, or privileges of employment, because of 

such individual’s race, color, religion, sex, 

pregnancy, national origin, age, handicap, or 

marital status. 

 

§ 760.10(1)(a), Fla. Stat. 

47. The FCRA, as amended, is patterned after Title VII of the Civil Rights 

Act of 1964 and 1991 ("Title VII"). Thus, federal decisional authority 

interpreting Title VII is applicable to cases arising under the FCRA. Johnson 

v. Great Expressions Dental Ctrs. of Fla., P.A., 132 So. 3d 1174, 1176 (Fla. 3d 

DCA 2014). 
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48. A plaintiff can establish a prima facie case for discrimination either by 

direct or circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence requires actual proof that 

the employer acted with a discriminatory motive when making the 

employment decision in question. Scholz v. RDV Sports, Inc., 710 So. 2d 618, 

624 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). Circumstantial evidence, on the other hand, 

requires a petitioner to satisfy the four-prong test established in McDonnell 

Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973). Here, Petitioner’s claim is based 

entirely on circumstantial evidence. 

49. "An individual pregnant worker who seeks to show disparate 

treatment through indirect evidence may do so through application of the 

McDonnell Douglas framework." Young v. UPS, Inc., 575 U.S. 206, 135 S. Ct. 

1338, 1353 (2015). Based on the United States Supreme Court’s analysis in 

McDonnell Douglas, in order to establish a prima facie case based on 

circumstantial evidence, Petitioner must show that she: 

1) belongs to a protected class; 

2) was qualified to do the job; 

3) was subjected to an adverse employment 

action; and 

4) the employer treated similarly situated 

employees outside the class more favorably. 

 

McDonnel Douglas, 411 U.S. at 802-03. 

50. If Petitioner were to satisfy all four prongs of the McDonnell 

Douglas framework, then the burden would shift to Respondent to produce 

evidence of a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for its adverse 

employment action. Id.  

51. Petitioner satisfied the first prong by a preponderance of the evidence.  

She established that she was part of a protected class within the meaning of 

the FCRA, which plainly prohibits discrimination, in pertinent part, based on 

"pregnancy." It is undisputed that Petitioner was pregnant at the time she 

ceased training in the yard at Parsec.  

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1998078150&pubNum=735&originatingDoc=Ie7383f9f788a11e38914df21cb42a557&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_735_624&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_735_624
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1998078150&pubNum=735&originatingDoc=Ie7383f9f788a11e38914df21cb42a557&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_735_624&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_735_624
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1973126392&pubNum=708&originatingDoc=Ie7383f9f788a11e38914df21cb42a557&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1973126392&pubNum=708&originatingDoc=Ie7383f9f788a11e38914df21cb42a557&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1973126392&originatingDoc=Ie7383f9f788a11e38914df21cb42a557&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1973126392&originatingDoc=Ie7383f9f788a11e38914df21cb42a557&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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52. Petitioner satisfied the second prong by a preponderance of the 

evidence. Where a petitioner presents evidence to show that she has satisfied 

a respondent’s objectively verifiable qualifications, then it is incumbent on 

the respondent to introduce its subjective evaluation in rebuttal to eliminate 

this prong. Vessels v. Atl. Indep. Sch. Sys., 408 F. 3d 763 (11th Cir. 2005). The 

evidence established that Ms. Lopez Garcia was not qualified for the 

Terminal Manager position, which she sought. However, a preponderance of 

the evidence shows that she was qualified simply to be trained for a 

promotion, which is relevant because Petitioner’s claim is based, in part, on 

her removal from training in furtherance of becoming qualified for a future 

promotion. Demonstrating a prima facie case is not onerous. See Samedi v. 

Miami-Dade Cty, 134 F. Supp. 2d 1320, 1345 (S.D. Fla. 2001); Wexler v. 

White’s Fine Furniture, Inc., 317 F. 3d 564 (6th Cir. 2003)(At the prima facie 

stage of an employment discrimination action, based on circumstantial 

evidence, the inquiry should focus on criteria such as demonstrated 

possession of the required general skills). Based on Parsec’s general policy of 

accommodating employees who voiced an interest in a different position, or a 

promotion within the company through on-the-job training, the evidence 

shows that Petitioner was qualified for the training program.   

53. Petitioner did not satisfy the third prong, by a preponderance of the 

evidence, because the evidence did not establish that she was subjected to an 

adverse employment action. Although Ms. Lopez Garcia admittedly resigned 

from her position at Parsec, she claims that she was constructively 

discharged. In order to prevail on her claim of constructive discharge, 

Petitioner must show, under an objective standard, that Respondent "made 

working conditions so difficult that a reasonable person would feel compelled 

to resign." Webb v. Fla. Health Care Mgmt. Corp, 804 So. 2d 422, 424 (Fla. 

4th DCA 2001)(citing Steele v. Offshore Shipbuilding, Inc., 867 F.2d 1311, 

1317 (11th Cir.1989); McCaw Cellular Comm. of Fla., Inc. v. Kwiatek, 763 So. 

2d 1063, 1066 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)). When an employee resigns, it is 

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1989030787&pubNum=350&originatingDoc=Icc9506aa0d0011d99830b5efa1ded32a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_350_1317&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.CustomDigest)#co_pp_sp_350_1317
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1989030787&pubNum=350&originatingDoc=Icc9506aa0d0011d99830b5efa1ded32a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_350_1317&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.CustomDigest)#co_pp_sp_350_1317
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1999176008&pubNum=735&originatingDoc=Icc9506aa0d0011d99830b5efa1ded32a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_735_1066&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.CustomDigest)#co_pp_sp_735_1066
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1999176008&pubNum=735&originatingDoc=Icc9506aa0d0011d99830b5efa1ded32a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_735_1066&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.CustomDigest)#co_pp_sp_735_1066
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presumed that the resignation was voluntary. MacLean v. City of St. 

Petersburg, 194 F. Supp. 2d 1290, 1300 (M.D. Fla. 2002). "An employee has 

the responsibility to act reasonably before choosing to resign, and then 

labeling that resignation as a constructive discharge." Id. (citing Matthews v. 

City of Gulfport, 72 F.Supp.2d 1328, 1338 (M.D. Fla. 1999)(citing Garner v. 

Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 807 F.2d 1536, 1539 (11th Cir. 1987)). In the present 

case, Petitioner did not present any evidence that her working conditions 

were objectively difficult, or that would tend to rebut the presumption that 

her resignation was voluntary in any way.  

54. In order to satisfy the fourth prong, Petitioner must show that she was 

treated less favorably than similarly situated individuals outside her class, 

through an analysis of valid comparators. Sitting en banc, the Eleventh 

Circuit recently held that comparators must be "similarly situated in all 

material respects." Lewis v. City of Union City, Ga., 918 F. 3d 1213, 1218 

(11th Cir. 2019). A comparator analysis is necessary at the prima facie stage 

of a discrimination case because, by its very nature, "discrimination is a 

comparative concept." Id. at 1223. "It is only by demonstrating that her 

employer has treated ‘like’ employees ‘differently’—i.e., through an 

assessment of comparators—that a plaintiff can supply the missing link and 

provide a valid basis for inferring unlawful discrimination." Id. In the present 

case, Ms. Lopez Garcia did not prove that she was treated less favorably than 

other individuals outside her class. To the contrary, all of the applicants who 

were competing for the same Terminal Manager position as Petitioner were 

non-pregnant males. The evidence was clear on its face that Petitioner had 

less relevant experience than any of the other unsuccessful applicants for the 

position. Mr. Fardales believed that the individual he hired for the position 

was the most qualified. The undersigned is "not in the business of adjudging 

whether employment decisions are prudent or fair. Instead, [the] sole concern 

is whether unlawful discriminatory animus motivates a challenged 

employment decision." Damon v. Fleming Supermarkets of Fla., Inc., 196 
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F.3d 1354, 1361 (11th Cir. 1999). An analysis of Petitioner’s comparators does 

not reveal that any decisions made by Parsec with respect to her employment 

were motivated by discriminatory animus.   

55. Failure to establish a prima facie case of discrimination ends the 

inquiry. Kidd v. Mando Am. Corp., 731 F.3d 1196, 1202 (11th Cir. 2013). 

Petitioner has not made a prima facie showing, by a preponderance of the 

evidence, that Respondent discriminated against her based on her pregnancy.  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, it is 

RECOMMENDED that FCHR enter a final order dismissing the Petition for 

Relief. 

 

DONE AND ENTERED this 29th day of January, 2021, in Tallahassee, Leon 

County, Florida. 

S  

BRITTANY O. FINKBEINER 

Administrative Law Judge 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

www.doah.state.fl.us 
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STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 
 

LAWRENCE ROSE, 

 

     Petitioner, 

 

vs. 

 

PHCSA, 

 

     Respondent. 

                                                                  / 

 

 

 

 

Case No. 20-2789 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

Administrative Law Judge Hetal Desai, of the Division of Administrative 

Hearings (DOAH), conducted the final hearing in this case by Zoom video 

conference on October 15, 2020. 

 

APPEARANCES 

For Petitioner:  Lawrence Rose, pro se 

                                4787 Klosterman Oaks Boulevard 

                                Palm Harbor, Florida  34683 

 

For Respondent: Andrew J. Salzman, Esquire 

                                Unice Salzman, P.A. 

                                1815 Little Road 

                                Trinity, Florida  34655 

 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

Whether Respondent, PHCSA,1 discriminated against Petitioner, 

Lawrence Rose, based on his gender in violation of section 760.08, Florida 

Statutes (2019), 2 when it restricted his access to its tennis courts. 

                                                           
1 Respondent, PHCSA, is the Palm Harbor Community Services Agency.  

 
2 All references to the Florida Statutes and administrative rules are to the 2019 versions 

unless stated otherwise. 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

On January 22, 2019, Petitioner filed a Technical Assistance 

Questionnaire for Public Accommodation Complaints (TAQ) with the Florida 

Commission on Human Relations (Commission or FCHR). Petitioner 

described the following facts in the TAQ: 

I was discriminated by an employee named Ed 

Hooker and later kicked out for good by Erica 

Lynford. The harassment started in 2015 when 

they would lock us out of the tennis courts at 

Putnam Park in Palm Harbor. In June 2018 we 

were kicked out for 10 weeks because they said 

they run a summer camp from 9am to 2pm. They 

allowed a private person (Johnny Angel) to use the 

courts from 4-7 pm all summer as well. Myself and 

another person complained about not being able to 

use the tennis courts and asked for the financials 

and when the courts would be open for public use. 

… Erica would not provide [the] all the financials 

or when the courts would be available for the 

public. She later claimed we swore at Ed Hooker 

and called the sheriff's office to cite us for 

trespassing. This happened the day after I posted a 

negative review on facebook and google on 

September 10, 2018. They have harassed us since 

2014. We never swore at anyone and have been 

harassed and I believe it is due to my age as  I am a 

senior citizen. (emphasis added). 

 

 In the TAQ section asking for the basis of the public accommodation 

discrimination claim, Petitioner only marked one box labeled "Other" and 

wrote in "age."  

 

On March 5, 2019, the Commission issued a Notice of Right to Amend 

indicating it could not investigate Petitioner's complaint because the place to 

which Petitioner complained he was denied access was not a public 

accommodation. It is unclear whether Petitioner amended his complaint with 
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the Commission, but no amended complaint was transmitted by the 

Commission to DOAH. 

 

Regardless, on May 20, 2020, the Commission issued a "Determination: 

No Reasonable Cause" addressing the age discrimination claim in the TAQ 

and a previously unmentioned claim of sex discrimination.3 In that document 

the Commission found:  

Complainant filed a complaint of discrimination 

alleging that Respondent committed unlawful 

discrimination on the bases of age and sex in 

violation of the Florida Civil Rights Act of 1992. 

The [Commission] has completed its investigation 

of this matter. The Office of General Counsel has 

completed its review of the investigation and finds 

it is unlikely that unlawful discrimination occurred 

in this matter. (emphasis added).[4] 

 

 On June 16, 2020, Petitioner filed a Petition for Relief. The Petition does 

not mention either age or sex as a basis for discrimination, but instead 

alleges general harassment. The Petition also adds a claim for violation of 

sections 90-60 and 10-44(u) of the Pinellas County Code of Ordinances 

(Pinellas County Code).  

 

On June 17, 2020, the Commission referred the Petition to DOAH to 

conduct a hearing, where it was assigned to the undersigned and set for 

hearing. 

 

                                                           
3 Respondent erroneously states it filed its response to the Commission of Ethics. See Resp. 

PRO, p.3, ¶5.  

 
4 Respondent assumes that Petitioner's complaint included both age and sex discrimination. 

See Resp. PRO, p.3, ¶2.  
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On August 19, 2020, PHCSA filed a Motion to Dismiss the Petition for 

Relief on the following grounds: (1) its tennis courts were not "public 

accommodations" as defined in the Florida Civil Rights Act (FCRA); and  

(2) the allegations of violations of the Pinellas County Code were improper. 

Respondent's Motion to Dismiss was heard at the pre-hearing conference held 

on August 28, 2020. On August 31, 2020, the undersigned issued an Order 

denying the motion to dismiss without prejudice as to the FCRA public 

accommodation claim because there were disputed issues of fact. The Order 

struck the allegation of violations of the Pinellas County Code from the 

Petition for Relief. 

 

On October 12, 2020, three days before the final hearing, Respondent filed 

a second Motion to Dismiss (second Motion) on the grounds there could be no 

public accommodation discrimination claim based on age because section 

760.08 does not include "age" as a protected class. Argument on the second 

Motion was heard at the final hearing. The second Motion was granted as to 

the age claim (for reasons explained in the Conclusions of Law below), and 

the testimony at the hearing was limited to the claims of harassment and 

discrimination based on sex. 

 

After granting a continuance, the final hearing was held on October 15, 

2020. Petitioner testified on his own behalf and presented the testimony of 

Edward Hooker and Curt Baker. Petitioner's Exhibits P1, P4, P9 through 

P17, P21 through P29, P37, P40 through P44, and P46 through P49 were 

admitted into evidence. Respondent presented the testimony of Erica 

Lynford. Respondent's Exhibits R1 through R8 were admitted into evidence. 

 

The Transcript of the hearing was filed on December 3, 2020. The parties 

requested an extension to file proposed recommended orders (PROs), which 
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was granted. Both parties timely filed their PROs, and both were considered 

in the preparation of this Order. 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. Petitioner is a male senior citizen who has used PHCSA's tennis courts 

in the past and wishes to continue to use those tennis courts. 

2. PHCSA is a taxing district created by Pinellas County to oversee 

recreational areas and libraries, including Putnam Park.  

3. Putnam Park, which is located in Palm Harbor, Florida, has two tennis 

courts that can be reserved for a fee. If the courts are not reserved, they are 

open to the public on a first-come basis for free.  

4. There are no policies or procedures that restrict the use of a PHCSA 

facility, including the tennis courts, based on a person's sex.  

5. If the courts are wet due to weather or from adjacent irrigation 

sprinklers, they are closed until the surface is dry and it is safe to play. When 

closed for safety reasons, the courts are unavailable to everyone, male and 

female.  

6. Additionally, PHCSA staff edges and mows the area around the tennis 

courts and blows any debris off the courts. This maintenance generally occurs 

on Mondays.  

7. During the summer, PHCSA operates a tennis camp for youth. The 

camp runs Monday through Friday, from 9:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m., for eight to 

ten weeks. Both tennis courts are unavailable for public use during the time 

the camp is in session, but are available for rental or public use after camp 

hours. 

8. In June 2018, Petitioner complained to PHCSA that the courts were not 

available during the time of the summer camp and that the tennis courts 

were being used to generate revenue. PHCSA informed Petitioner he could 

use the courts on the days of the summer camp any time after 2:00 p.m., and 

that revenue from rentals was used to maintain PHCSA facilities. 
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9. Petitioner acknowledged that the courts were available after 2:00 p.m. 

but complained that by then it was too hot to play. He also conceded that no 

one, regardless of gender, was allowed to use the courts (other than the camp 

attendees) during the tennis camp's hours of operation. 

10. Johnny Angel, a male tennis instructor, has a contract with PHCSA to 

rent one tennis court during certain time blocks for private tennis lessons. 

During these lessons, Mr. Angel only utilizes one tennis court, leaving the 

other court available for rental or public use.  

11. Petitioner complained that he did not like to play on the available 

court during Mr. Angel's lessons because there is no barrier to stop stray 

balls that inevitably come onto the available court from Mr. Angel's students.  

12. Petitioner also complained to PHCSA about delays in unlocking 

Putnam Park on certain occasions, preventing him from using the tennis 

court. On these occasions, no one was able to use the tennis courts, male or 

female.  

13. Edward Hooker, a crew leader for the PHCSA, testified that he has 

had multiple encounters with Petitioner since 2017. Mr. Hooker described 

Petitioner as "very rude," "boisterous," and "aggressive" during these 

encounters. In one incident, Petitioner called Mr. Hooker "a liar" and claimed 

staff did not blow off the courts. 

14. The most recent incident between Mr. Hooker and Petitioner occurred 

on September 10, 2018. On this date, Petitioner arrived at Putnam Park but 

was unable to use the courts because the gate was locked; he had to wait 40 

minutes.  

15. Once open and shortly after Petitioner began playing tennis, 

Mr. Hooker began mowing the area around the tennis courts. Petitioner 

admits he asked Mr. Hooker to blow off the courts, but denies yelling or using 

profanity. 

16. Mr. Hooker testified that he informed Petitioner that the courts were 

closed because they were wet and that the courts would be blown off after the 
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mowing was finished. Mr. Hooker claims that at some point during this 

encounter Petitioner yelled at him and used profanity. Mr. Hooker's version 

of the incident is more credible than Petitioner's version.  

17. Regardless, Mr. Hooker reported the incident to his supervisor, Erica 

Lynford, the Director of PHCSA Parks and Recreation. Ms. Lynford testified 

that she had previously received complaints from three different PHCSA staff 

members of similar incidents with Petitioner.  

18. Ms. Lynford investigated Mr. Hooker's September 10 complaint by 

asking another staff member, Jake Pullen, for his account of the incident. She 

also restricted Mr. Hooker and Mr. Pullen from working at Putnam Park. 

Based on her investigation, Ms. Lynford determined that Petitioner used a 

"posturing nature and loud voice" toward Mr. Hooker and other PHCSA staff. 

She decided Petitioner's behavior warranted a trespass warning.  

19. On September 11, 2018, Petitioner returned to the tennis courts with 

Curt Baker, a male senior citizen. Ms. Lynford contacted the Pinellas County 

Sheriff's Office (PCSO) to issue the trespass warning. Once the PCSO 

arrived, Ms. Lynford told Petitioner and Mr. Baker they were no longer 

allowed on the Putnam Park tennis courts. It was explained to Petitioner and 

Mr. Baker that if they returned to the tennis courts they would be subject to 

arrest.   

20. Subsequently, Mr. Baker requested that the trespass warning against 

him be lifted. PHCSA granted his request and Mr. Baker is now allowed to 

play on the tennis courts. 

21. Petitioner presented no evidence that the trespass warning was based 

on his gender, or that PHCSA treated women in a preferential manner.  

 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

22. Sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and 760.11(7), Florida Statutes, grant 

DOAH jurisdiction over the parties and subject matter of this cause. See also 

Fla. Admin. Code R. 60Y-4.016. 



 

8 

23. Petitioner brings this action under section 760.08, the public 

accommodation provision of the FCRA. He alleges that PHCSA discriminated 

against him on account of his age and gender when it barred him from the 

PHCSA tennis courts. As an initial matter, however, Petitioner cannot bring 

a claim of public accommodation discrimination based on his age. The FCRA 

prohibits discrimination in places of public accommodation and provides: 

All persons are entitled to the full and equal 

enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, 

privileges, advantages, and accommodations of any 

place of public accommodation without 

discrimination or segregation on the ground of race, 

color, national origin, sex, pregnancy, handicap, 

familial status, or religion. 

 

§ 760.08, Fla. Stat. 

24. The public accommodation provision of the FCRA does not mention 

"age" or explicitly protect the elderly. Without statutory authority Petitioner 

can only proceed on his claim of public accommodation discrimination based 

on sex. See § 120.57(1)(e)1., Fla. Stat. ("An agency or an administrative law 

judge may not base agency action that determines the substantial interests of 

a party on [an interpretation of] an unadopted rule or a rule that is an invalid 

exercise of delegated legislative authority.").5 

25. The FCRA is modeled after Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 

(Title VII) and the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). Consequently, 

interpretation of federal discrimination law is instructive and persuasive in 

analyzing claims under the FCRA. See, e.g., Valenzuela v. GlobeGround N. 

Am., LLC, 18 So. 3d 17, 21 (Fla. 3d DCA 2009); Dornbach v. Holley, 854 So. 

                                                           
5 Part of Petitioner's confusion regarding his age discrimination claim may have been 

fostered by the Commission's forms and actions. For example, the TAQ form (which is 

specifically for "Public Accommodation Complaints") mentions age in its acknowledgment 

section: "I also understand that the FCHR can only accept charges of discrimination based on 

race, religion, sex, pregnancy, national origin, disability, age, genetic information, or 

retaliation for opposing discrimination."  Additionally, the Notice of Determination in this 

case states that FCHR investigated Petitioner's age discrimination claim even though the 

statute clearly does not make age a "protected class" under FCRA's public accommodation 

provision. 
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2d 211, 213 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002); Bhogaita v. Altamonte Heights Condo. Ass'n, 

Inc., 765 F.3d 1277, 1285 (11th Cir. 2014).  

26. Regarding his sex discrimination claim, Petitioner must prove the 

elements of public accommodation discrimination by a preponderance of the 

evidence. § 120.57(1)(j), Fla. Stat.; See Young v. Dep't of Cmty. Aff., 625 So. 2d 

831 (Fla. 1993). 

27. Claims of discrimination in public accommodations under the FCRA 

relying on circumstantial evidence apply the same prima facie standards and 

burdens of proof as employment discrimination claims under federal law. See 

LaRoche v. Denny's, Inc., 62 F. Supp. 2d 1366, 1368, 1370 (S.D. Fla. 1999) 

(finding public accommodation claims under section 760.08 have "the same 

prima facie standards and burdens of proof as do employment discrimination 

claims under Title VII."(citations omitted)); see also Solomon v. Waffle House, 

Inc., 365 F. Supp. 2d 1312, 1331 (N.D.Ga. 2004). 

28. In this case, Petitioner must first prove a prima facie case of 

discrimination with circumstantial evidence that supports a fair inference of 

unlawful discrimination. If he does so, PHCSA may explain that it prevented 

Petitioner from using the tennis court for legitimate nondiscriminatory 

reasons. If PHCSA satisfies this burden, Petitioner may show that PHCSA's 

explanations are not credible or are only a pretext for discrimination.  

29. To prove his prima facie case, Petitioner must establish he: (1) is a 

member of a protected class; (2) attempted to afford himself the full benefits 

and enjoyment of a public accommodation; (3) was denied the full benefit or 

enjoyment of a public accommodation; and (4) such services were available to 

similarly situated persons outside his protected class who received full 

benefits or who were treated better. Laroche, 62 F. Supp. 2d at 1382; see also 

Solomon, 365 F. Supp. at 1331. 

30. Petitioner has satisfied the first element of his sex discrimination 

claim, but PHCSA argues he cannot satisfy the second and third elements 

because the tennis courts are not a "public accommodation."  
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31. Under the FCRA, a "public accommodation" is defined in relevant part 

as: 

“Public accommodations” means places of public 

accommodation, lodgings, facilities principally 

engaged in selling food for consumption on the 

premises, gasoline stations, places of exhibition or 

entertainment, and other covered establishments. 

Each of the following establishments which serves 

the public is a place of public accommodation 

within the meaning of this section: 

 

* * * 

 

(c) Any motion picture theater, theater, concert 

hall, sports arena, stadium, or other place of 

exhibition or entertainment. 

 

§ 760.02(11), Fla. Stat. 

32. Sports venues, such as tennis courts, have qualified as "public 

accommodations" under the federal equivalents to the FCRA. See People of 

State of N.Y. by Abrams v. Ocean Club, Inc., 602 F. Supp. 489, 496 (E.D.N.Y. 

1984) (finding tennis courts controlled by private club but offered for use to 

the general public were subject to federal and New York equivalent of FCRA); 

Martin v. PGA Tour, Inc., 204 F.3d 994 (9th Cir. 1999) (golf course is a place 

of public accommodation under federal and Oregon equivalent of FCRA).  

33. The Florida Attorney General has opined that a local softball field in a 

city park similar to Putnam Park is a "public accommodation" for the 

purposes of FCRA: 

[T]he provisions of the Florida Civil Rights Act 

would prohibit the Village of Palmetto Bay from 

making a municipal softball field exclusively 

available to female athletes as any such action 

would constitute discrimination on the basis of sex 

or gender in the area of public accommodation. 

However, this conclusion should not be read to 

suggest that activities like girls' softball games 

cannot be scheduled exclusively at a particular 
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athletic field so long as opportunities exist for boys' 

teams to also schedule use of the park. 

 

In Re Eve A. Boutsis, Fla. Att'y Gen. Op. 2008-58 (2008).   

34. Whether a municipal park or sports field constitutes a "public 

accommodation" under FCRA involves "factual determinations based on the 

uses to which this property is put, such as whether the park is used for 

entertainment or exhibition, whether the park includes a sports arena or 

stadium, whether food may be served on park grounds, etc." Id. 

35. Based on the facts of this case, the undersigned finds the tennis courts 

were a public accommodation under the FCRA definition. Specifically, 

although there was no evidence there was food on park grounds, Putnam 

Park and the tennis courts were utilized for entertainment and were 

available for rent by members of the public.    

36. Turning to the last element, there was absolutely no evidence women 

were given preferential treatment by PHCSA in the use of the tennis courts.  

All members of the public, regardless of sex, were excluded from using the 

courts during the summer tennis camp or when the courts were locked.  

Similarly, all members of the public, regardless of sex, could use the second 

available court during Mr. Angel's private lessons. Moreover, the evidence 

established that Mr. Baker (who is in the same protected class as Petitioner) 

was allowed to use the courts. Petitioner show not shown that similarly 

situated persons outside his protected class were allowed to use the tennis 

courts when he was not. 

37. Because Petitioner did not meet his burden of proving a prima facie 

case of sex discrimination by a preponderance of the evidence, PHCSA's 

reasons for restricting Petitioner's use of the tennis courts during the 

summer tennis camp or issuing him a trespass warning, and whether those 

reasons were pretexts, need not be discussed. See generally, Adams v. 

Holland, 2019 WL 4451454, at *6 (M.D. Fla. Sept. 17, 2019) (noting where 

plaintiff did not show a comparator outside his protective class he could not 
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establish a prima facie case for discrimination and the court did not need to 

address whether defendants had a non-discriminatory reason for his 

treatment, or whether such a reason was pretextual).  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, it is 

Recommended that the Florida Commission on Human Relations enter a 

final order dismissing Lawrence Rose's Petition for Relief. 

 

DONE AND ENTERED this 26th day of January, 2021, in Tallahassee, Leon 

County, Florida. 

S  

HETAL DESAI 

Administrative Law Judge 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

COPIES FURNISHED: 

 

Tammy S. Barton, Agency Clerk 

Florida Commission on Human 

Relations 

4075 Esplanade Way, Room 110 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-7020 

 

Andrew J. Salzman, Esquire 

Unice Salzman, P.A. 

1815 Little Road 

Trinity, Florida  34655 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lawrence Rose 

4787 Klosterman Oaks Boulevard 

Palm Harbor, Florida  34683 

 

Cheyanne Costilla, General Counsel 

Florida Commission on Human 

  Relations 

4075 Esplanade Way, Room 110 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399 

 

 

 

 



 

13 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 15 days from 

the date of this Recommended Order. Any exceptions to this Recommended 

Order should be filed with the agency that will issue the Final Order in this 

case. 
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